## Court of Appeals

of the

# State of New York

THE NONHUMAN RIGHTS PROJECT, INC., on behalf of HAPPY,

Petitioner-Appellant,

– against –

JAMES J. BREHENY, in his official capacity as Executive Vice President and General Director of Zoos and Aquariums of the Wildlife Conservation Society and Director of the Bronx Zoo, and WILDLIFE CONSERVATION SOCIETY,

Respondents-Respondents.

#### **BRIEF OF AMICI CURIAE PHILOSOPHERS<sup>1</sup>**

ANA L. MCMONIGLE, ESQ. 28 High Street, Apt. 506 Hartford, Connecticut 06103 Tel.: (860) 690-1182 ana.mcmonigle@gmail.com

Attorney for Amici Curiae

Date Completed: September 24, 2021

<sup>1</sup> Gary L. Comstock, Ph.D.; Sue Donaldson, Independent Researcher; Andrew Fenton, Ph.D.; Tyler M. John, Ph.D. candidate; L. Syd M Johnson, Ph.D.; Robert C. Jones, Ph.D.; Will Kymlicka, Ph.D.; Letitia M. Meynell, Ph.D.; Nathan Nobis, Ph.D.; David M. Peña-Guzmán, Ph.D.; James Rocha, Ph.D.; Bernard E. Rollin, Ph.D.; Jeff Sebo, Ph.D.; and Adam Shriver, Ph.D.

## **Table of Contents**

	Table	e of Au	thorities	ii	
I.	Interest of the <i>Amici Curiae</i> 1				
II.	Sumr	Summary of the Argument			
III.	Argument				
	1.	Species Membership		6	
		1.1	About the species membership criterion for personhood	6	
		1.2	Species as a biological category	8	
		1.3	Convergent evolution	10	
		1.4	Conclusions regarding species membership	11	
	2.	A Soc	cial Contract Conception	12	
		2.1	Not all rights depend on the existence of a social contract	12	
		2.2	The social contract does not produce 'persons'	14	
		2.3	Personhood is not conditional on bearing duties and responsibilities	16	
		2.4	Conclusions regarding the social contract	17	
	3.	Comr	nunity Membership	18	
		3.1	A community membership conception of personhood	18	
		3.2	The Wide view	20	
		3.3	The Narrow view	22	
		3.4	Conclusions regarding community membership	23	
	4.	Capao	cities	24	
		4.1	Conditions of personhood	25	
		4.2	Personhood and autonomy	27	
		4.3	Why elephant autonomy matters	29	
		4.4	Conclusions regarding capacities	30	
IV.	Conclusion		31		

## **Table of Authorities**

### Cases:

Matter of Nonhuman Rights Project, Inc. v. Lavery, 31 N.Y.3d 1054 (2018)	7
Matter of Nonhuman Rights Project, Inc. v. Lavery, 152 A.D.3d 73 (1st Dep't 2017), lv. denied 31 N.Y.3d 1054 (2018)1, 3, 6, 16, 18, 19, 24, 29	9
Matter of Nonhuman Rights Project, Inc. v. Presti, 124 A.D.3d 1334 (4th Dep't 2015)29	9
Matter of Nonhuman Rights Project, Inc. v. Breheny, 189 A.D.3d 583 (1st Dep't 2020)	6
People ex rel. Nonhuman Rights Project, Inc. v. Lavery, 124 A.D.3d 148 (3d Dep't 2014)1, 12, 13, 16, 24	4
<i>The Nonhuman Rights Project, Inc. v. Breheny</i> , 2020 WL 1670735 (Sup Ct., Bronx County, Feb. 18, 2020, Tuitt, J., Index No. 260441/19, <i>aff'd</i> 189 A.D.3d 583 (2020))1, 2, 3, 15, 17, 18, 23, 24, 2	9

## **Statutes & Other Authorities:**

U.S. Const., Amend. XIV	14
Anita Silvers & Leslie P. Francis, Human and Civil Models of Rights: Healthy and Ill Disabled and Access to Health Care, Human Rights and Disability: Interdisciplinary Perspectives (1st ed 2016)	21
Barbara Arneil & Nancy J. Hirschmann, Disability and Political Theory (2016)	21
Charles Darwin, On the Origin of Species by Means of Natural Selection, or the Preservation of Favoured Races in the Struggle for Life (1859)	8
Daniel Dennett, Conditions of Personhood, What is a Person? (Michael F. Goodman ed 1988)	25
David DeGrazia, Human-animal Chimeras: Human Dignity, Moral Status, and Species Prejudice, 38 Metaphilosophy 309 (2007)	25, 26

David L. Hull, <i>On Human Nature</i> , 2 PSA: Proceedings on the Biennial Meeting of the Philosophy of Science Association 3 (1986)	9
Eva F. Kittay, At the Margins of Moral Personhood 116 Ethics (2005)	21
Jean-Jacques Rousseau, On the Social Contract, or Principles of Political Right in the Basic Political Writings (1762)	12, 13
John Locke, An Essay Concerning Human Understanding (1689)	
John Locke, Second Treatise of Government (C.B. McPherson ed 1698)	12
Joshua M. Plotnik et al., <i>Self-recognition in an Asian elephant</i> , 103 PNAS 17053 (2006)	26
Kristin Andrews, <i>The Psychological Concept of 'Person,</i> ' 1 Animal Sentience 10 (17) (2016)	25, 30
Mark Rowlands, Can Animals Be Persons? (2019)	25, 30
Michael O. Eze, Intellectual History in Contemporary South Africa (2010).	19
Robert Johnson & Adam Cureton, <i>Kant's Moral Philosophy</i> , Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy (2017), available at https://plate.stanford.edu/antrias/kant.moral/#Dib (last accessed	
https://plato.stanford.edu/entries/kant-moral/#Bib (last accessed July 27, 2021)	27
Thomas Hobbes, Leviathan or the Matter, Forme and Power of a Common-Wealth, Ecclesiasticall and Civil (1651)	12
Tom L. Beauchamp & James F. Childress, Principles of Biomedical Ethics (5th ed 2001)	29
Tom L. Beauchamp & Victoria Wobber, <i>Autonomy in Chimpanzees</i> , 35 Theoretical Medicine and Bioethics 117 (2014)	28

#### I. Interest of the *Amici Curiae*

We, the undersigned, submit this brief as philosophers with expertise in ethics, animal ethics, political theory, the philosophy of animal cognition and behavior, and the philosophy of biology in support of the Nonhuman Rights Project's (NhRP's) efforts to secure habeas corpus relief for the elephant named Happy. In The Nonhuman Rights Project, Inc. v Breheny (2020 WL 1670735, \*7, \*9-\*10 [Sup Ct., Bronx County, Feb. 18, 2020, Tuitt, J., index No. 260441/19, affd 189 AD3d 583 [2020]), the Supreme Court, Bronx County (Trial Court), declined to grant habeas corpus relief and order Happy's transfer to an elephant sanctuary, relying, in part, on previous decisions in which the First and Third Departments denied habeas relief for the NhRP's chimpanzee clients, Kiko and Tommy (see People ex rel. Nonhuman Rights Project, Inc. v Lavery, 124 AD3d 148 [3d Dept 2014] [Lavery I]; Matter of Nonhuman Rights Project, Inc. v Lavery, 152 AD3d 73 [1st Dept 2017], lv denied 31 NY3d 1054 [2018] [Lavery II]). Lavery I and II use incompatible conceptions of 'person' which, when properly understood, are either philosophically inadequate or, in fact, compatible with Happy's personhood.

The undersigned have long-standing, active interests in our duties to other animals. We reject arbitrary distinctions that deny adequate protections to other animals who share with protected humans relevantly similar vulnerabilities to harms and relevantly similar interests in avoiding such harms. We submit this brief to affirm our shared interest in ensuring a more just coexistence with other animals who live in our communities. We strongly urge this Court, in keeping with the best philosophical standards of rational judgment and ethical standards of justice, to recognize that Happy is a nonhuman person who should be released from her current confinement and transferred to an appropriate elephant sanctuary, pursuant to habeas corpus.

#### II. Summary of the Argument

The NhRP is challenging the lawfulness of the captivity of the elephant Happy. As recently noted by the Trial Court, the NhRP's goal is

to [change] 'the common law status of at least some nonhuman animals from mere 'things,' which lack the capacity to possess any legal rights, to 'persons,' who possess such fundamental rights as bodily integrity and bodily liberty, and those other legal rights to which evolving standards of morality, scientific discovery, and human experience entitle them.'

To date, the courts have decided against the NhRP without fully addressing whether any nonhuman animal is the sort of being who can enjoy habeas corpus relief. The central issue is whether the concept of 'personhood' applies to animals like Happy. In denying habeas corpus relief to Happy, the Trial Court did not contest the scientific evidence of elephant agential and psychological capacities presented by NhRP, nor the facts of the case. Instead, it relied on appellate court determinations that the concepts of 'person' and 'personhood' cannot refer to nonhuman animals.

<sup>(</sup>Breheny at \*2).

New York State courts have struggled with the legal dichotomy of person and thing. In *Breheny*, Justice Tuitt determined that "Happy is more than just a legal thing, or property. She is an intelligent, autonomous being who should be treated with respect and dignity, and who may be entitled to liberty" (Breheny at \*10). Regarding Lavery II, Judge Fahey reasoned that chimpanzees are not mere things and that the important matter is whether they have a "right to liberty protected by habeas corpus" (Matter of Nonhuman Rights Project, Inc. v Lavery, 31 NY3d 1054, 1057, 1059 [2018, Fahey, J., concurring]). As he explains, to deny an autonomous being, like a chimpanzee, the right to liberty is to regard them "as entirely lacking independent worth, as a mere resource for human use, a thing the value of which consists entirely in its usefulness to others" (*Id.* at 1058, 1059). Inspired by the work of philosopher Tom Regan, Judge Fahey maintained that "we should consider whether a chimpanzee is an individual with inherent value who has the right to be treated with respect" (Id. at 1058).

We write as a diverse group of philosophers who share the conviction that if the courts are employing the concept of 'personhood' to determine whether to extend or deny habeas corpus relief, they should employ a consistent and reasonable definition of 'personhood' and 'persons.' We believe that the previous, relevant Appellate Division judgments applied inconsistent definitions of 'personhood.' In this brief, we argue that there is a diversity of ways in which humans (*Homo sapiens*) are persons and that there are no non-arbitrary conceptions of personhood that can include all humans and exclude all nonhuman animals. To do so we describe and assess the four most prominent conceptions of personhood that can be found in the Appellate Division rulings:

- 1. Species Membership. This conception of personhood is arbitrary because it picks out one level of biological taxonomic classification, species, and confers moral worth and legal status on members of only one species, *Homo sapiens*. Attempts to justify this are self-defeating because they demonstrate that it is the various criteria used to defend this choice that are actually doing the moral work. These criteria invariably exclude some humans or include some nonhuman animals. This is because our species, like every other, is the product of gradual evolutionary processes that create an array of similarities between species and an array of differences within them.
- 2. Social Contract. The lower courts have misconstrued this conception as endowing personhood only upon parties to the social contract. Instead, social contracts make citizens out of persons. The exclusion of an individual from the contract does not strip that individual of personhood. Social contract philosophers have consistently maintained that the

characteristics that persons must possess to enter into social contracts are rationality (i.e., the ability to advance their own interests) and autonomy (i.e., the capacity for self-rule or self-governance). These capacities are reasonably ascribed to elephants like Happy.

- **3.** Community Membership. This conception rests on the idea that personhood has a social dimension and is importantly linked to membership in the human community. On one view, to be a person is to be embedded in social relationships of interdependency, meaning, and community. Happy clearly meets this criterion: we have made her a part of our human community of persons. On another view, to be a person requires not only social embedding but also the possession of certain psychological capacities, such as beliefs, desires, emotions, rationality, and autonomy. Again, these capacities are reasonably ascribed to Happy. On either view, she is a member of our community.
- 4. Capacities. This conception, which the NhRP endorses, maintains that personhood rests on having certain capacities. Autonomy is typically considered a capacity sufficient (though not necessary) for personhood. Violations of autonomy constitute a serious harm. In light of the elephant scientists' affidavits, the Trial Court determined that Happy is

autonomous. As she qualifies as an autonomous being, Happy qualifies as a person.

Each conception supports different reasoning regarding personhood. The first, species membership, is weak due to its arbitrary character. The other three, when properly understood and applied in the present case, entail that Happy qualifies as a person. On these grounds, we agree with the NhRP that it is unjust to deny Happy habeas corpus relief.

#### **III.** Argument

#### 1. Species Membership

#### 1.1 About the species membership criterion for personhood

In the present case, the First Department maintained that, "Under *Lavery [II]*, the writ of habeas corpus is limited to human beings" and refused to make a determination that Happy, or any individual who is a member of a species other than *Homo sapiens*, is a person for some judicial purposes (*Matter of Nonhuman Rights Project, Inc. v Breheny*, 189 AD3d 583, 583 [1st Dept 2020]). Thus, the First Department explicitly relied upon the species membership conception of 'personhood.'

Historically, U.S. law, and, in particular, the ascription of rights and privileges, has made use of various biological categories. The biological traits and classifications that have been considered legally salient have changed significantly over time, keeping pace with both scientific and moral progress, and correcting some of the egregious errors of earlier scientific theories and political regimes. For instance, sex differences and the supposedly biological categories of race were once employed to determine who had basic legal rights, while maturity continues to inform when individuals attain various rights.

We endorse the idea that the biological sciences must inform legal practice, but we maintain that species membership alone cannot rationally be used to determine who is a person or a rights holder. The concept of 'personhood,' with all its moral and legal weight, is not a biological concept and cannot be meaningfully derived from the biological category Homo sapiens. Moreover, species do not have distinct essential features that all and only the members of the species share. Therefore, there is no method for determining an underlying, biologically robust, and universal 'human nature' upon which moral and legal rights can be thought to rest. Finally, any attempt to justify the use of species membership (or any other biological classification) to confer personhood status will inevitably draw on other criteria—such as the social contract, community membership, or psychological capacities—in which case it is these other criteria that are doing the moral work, rendering species membership itself irrelevant.

#### **1.2** Species as a biological category

Species is only one level of classification in biological taxonomy. Charles Darwin's great insight was that the differences between species do not reflect the existence of essential characteristics but, instead, are the product of a gradual process of natural selection (Darwin [1859]). Darwin emphasized the diversity of organic populations, due to a slow accumulation of changes producing distinct varieties within a population and, eventually, new species.

The gradualism of evolution suggests that there is no set of properties both necessary and jointly sufficient for an organism to be a member of a particular species. There are three central reasons for this:

- There is a great deal of similarity across species because all organisms on the planet are more or less closely related to each other. Often, the more closely related two species are, the more similar they tend to be, though there are exceptions.
- 2. There tends to be a substantial degree of natural variation among organisms within a particular species (a feature of populations that makes evolution by natural selection possible).
- 3. Species change over time—they evolve—so even if all members of a species shared some characteristic at one time, this would probably not be

true of all their descendants, and it was definitely not true of all their ancestors.

These facts about the evolutionary process and the character of living organisms create a fundamental problem for scientists studying the classification of organisms, referred to as the 'Species Problem.' Although evolutionary theory facilitates the grouping aspect of classification, offering a principled criterion for grouping organisms together—shared ancestry—it offers no clear criteria for the level at which to rank them. Whether an ancestral grouping should be considered a variety, subspecies, species, superspecies, subgenus, or genus can be an open question.

When understood as a biological classification, it is difficult to see why species, or indeed any other taxonomic category (such as subspecies, genus, family, order, and so on), should bear any moral weight, let alone be used as the grounds for conferring personhood status. Like other species categories, the biological category *Homo sapiens* cannot offer a sufficiently stable or consistent foundation for some core essence universally shared by all and only human beings, which is what is typically meant by 'human nature' (Hull [1986]). Although there are capacities or relationships that may typically be shared by the members of a particular species that are morally relevant (as we discuss in later sections), it is those capacities, and not species membership per se that is relevant.

#### **1.3** Convergent evolution

Many people believe that the more closely related to humans other animals are, the more likely they are to have 'human-like characteristics' that are considered relevant to personhood. This isn't quite right. Certainly, general similarity tends to be shared by any species with its closest relatives and *Homo sapiens* is no exception. But it is a mistake to think that only closely related species can share the same trait. Consider bipedalism. While all primates other than humans are typically quadrupedal, we share our bipedalism with kangaroos, birds, and a number of extinct dinosaurs. This is explained through convergent evolution.

Convergent evolution identifies phenomena where distantly related species evolve similar traits, not because their shared ancestors had these traits but because their environmental challenges and ways of life are relevantly similar. A favorite example is the evolution of the camera type eye, which is now known to have evolved multiple times and is a trait that we share with very distant relatives, such as octopuses. Elephants are, of course, considerably more closely related to humans, so it is already more likely that they might share traits with us that are relevant to their being persons. However, as noted above, evolutionary proximity is only a suggestive indicator of greater general similarity between two species. Until we look, we cannot know whether elephants have characteristics that justify the conferral of personhood status. We need to judge individual animals, like Happy, on their own merits, informed by both the characteristics that appear to be typical of their species and what can be observed of them as individuals.

#### **1.4** Conclusions regarding species membership

Efforts to identify a set of diagnostic traits both universal and unique to *Homo sapiens* invariably fail. Either they leave out some humans, or they include members of some other species. Using the biological category *Homo sapiens* to define 'personhood' and to determine who has legal status is arbitrary, and it makes little sense given what we know of evolutionary processes. Because efforts to justify using species membership as grounds for conferring personhood invariably depend on appeals to criteria that are entirely distinct from taxonomic classification, this suggests that species membership is, in fact, irrelevant.

The NhRP seeks to have Happy classified as a person based on the capacities she shares with other persons. If 'persons' are defined as 'beings who possess certain capacities,' and humans usually possess those capacities, then being human can be used to predict with a degree of accuracy that a particular individual will also have those capacities and thereby be a person. But it is arbitrary to use human species membership as a necessary condition of personhood, and it fails to satisfy a basic requirement of justice: that we treat like cases alike. It picks out a single characteristic as the thing that confers rights, without providing any reason for thinking it has any relevance to rights.

11

#### 2. A Social Contract Conception

In *Lavery I*, the Third Department argued that "Reciprocity between rights and responsibilities stems from principles of social contract, which inspired the ideals of freedom and democracy at the core of [the US] system of government. Under this view, society extends rights in exchange for an express or implied agreement from its members to submit to social responsibilities. In other words, 'rights [are] connected to moral agency and the ability to accept societal responsibility in exchange for [those] rights'" (124 AD3d at 151 [citations omitted]). The influential social contract theories that emerged in Europe in the 17th and 18th centuries, and which inspired the language and ideals found in the U.S. Constitution, would disagree with this statement for at least three reasons: (1) not all rights depend on the existence of a social contract, (2) the social contract does not produce persons, and (3) personhood is not conditional on bearing duties and responsibilities.

#### 2.1 Not all rights depend on the existence of a social contract

Among the most influential of social contract philosophers are Thomas Hobbes, John Locke, and Jean-Jacques Rousseau, who maintain that all persons have 'natural rights' that they possess independently of their willingness or ability to take on social responsibilities (Hobbes [1651]; Locke [1698]; Rousseau [1762]). These rights, which we possess in the state of nature, include the right to absolute freedom and liberty. Upon contracting with our fellows, we do not become 'persons', but rather 'citizens'; and we do not suddenly acquire rights, but rather give up some natural rights, sometimes in exchange for civil and legal rights.

*Lavery I* advances the argument that persons are those who have rights by virtue of their capacity to bear responsibilities (124 AD3d at 151). The social contract, according to this line of thought, is the mechanism whereby persons take up societal duties and responsibilities, receiving rights in exchange. But this quid pro quo is not how political philosophers have understood the meaning of the social contract historically or in contemporary times.

Rousseau explicitly rejected the idea that the social contract gives rights to persons, proclaiming, "Man is born free, and everywhere he is in chains" (Rousseau Book 1, Chapter 1 [1762]). These chains, for Rousseau, are self-imposed, forged by ourselves when we give up our natural rights and freedoms and place ourselves under the authority of another. The social contract 'chains' us. We find a similar argument in Hobbes. What we acquire with a social contract, according to Hobbes, are law and morality, not rights. In fact, in the act of creating a social contract, we give up nearly all of our natural rights, save one: the right to life. And what we receive in exchange are not new rights, but rather security in the form of the protection of the sovereign.

Locke held that we make a contract to leave the state of nature and form a society because we have a shared interest in protecting our property, including our own bodies. In this transition from the state of nature to the state of civil society, we gain laws, the executive power needed to enforce these laws, and judges to adjudicate property disputes. But we lose our previously held natural rights, including the right to protect ourselves by any means necessary and punish those who transgress against our property.

We ought not understand the social contract, therefore, in terms of the acquisition of rights, per se, but rather in terms of the acquisition of a single duty: to obey the law.

#### 2.2 The social contract does not produce 'persons'

In the philosophies of Hobbes and Rousseau, with the advent of the social contract we see the creation of an 'artificial man' (the sovereign or Leviathan), not a 'person.' This artificial man is an abstraction, since no real person could be literally composed of the rights and powers of others. Rousseau describes this 'new person' as a collective created only by a truly democratic social contract. Locke describes a 'body politic' to which contractors submit. The sole person or body created by the social contract, while important, is a mere abstraction, and by no interpretation an actual person.

Social contracts create citizens, not persons. Citizens are individuals who are subject to the laws authorized by the contract. Notably, the U.S. Constitution mentions the term 'persons' fifty-seven times, but it does not define it. The 14th Amendment, however, distinguishes between persons and citizens. This is consistent with social contract theory, which holds that only persons can bind themselves through a contract and, in so doing, become citizens. While persons do not depend on a social contract, the social contract depends on persons who will be its 'signatories.'

Social contract philosophers have been consistent about the characteristics that are necessarily possessed by persons who enter into social contracts: they are rational (i.e., capable of advancing their own interests) and autonomous (i.e., self-ruling or self-governing). Indeed, it is only because we are rational, autonomous persons that we can use these capacities to consent to another's authority over ourselves. But there is no reason to assume that only humans can meet this definition of the rational, autonomous person. Elephants possess the requisite characteristics. The Trial Court described the elephant Happy as "an autonomous being" and "an extraordinary animal with complex cognitive abilities, an intelligent being with advanced analytic abilities akin to human beings" (*Breheny* at \*10). Happy, in other words, has the qualities social contract theories recognize as belonging to persons.

It follows from social contract theory that all contractors must be persons, but not that all persons must necessarily be contractors. There can be persons who are not contractors—either because they choose not to contract (e.g., adults who opt for life in the state of nature) or because they cannot contract (e.g., infants and some individuals with cognitive disabilities). Social contract philosophers have never claimed—not now, not in the 17th century—that the social contract can endow any being with personhood. The contract can only endow citizenship on persons who exist prior to the contract and agree to it. Personhood, therefore, must be presupposed as a characteristic of contractors in social contract theories.

# 2.3 Personhood is not conditional on bearing duties and responsibilities

The Trial Court relied on precedents set in *Lavery I* and *II*, cases concerning chimpanzees. In *Lavery II*, the First Department claimed that "nonhumans lack sufficient responsibility to have any legal standing" (152 AD3d at 78). In *Lavery I*, the Third Department also argued that chimpanzees, "unlike human beings . . . cannot bear any legal duties, submit to societal responsibilities or be held legally accountable for their actions" and, thus, cannot have legal rights (124 AD3d at 152).

The NhRP has argued that an entity is a 'person' if she can be the subject of rights *or* can bear legal and societal responsibilities. The reason for this broader understanding of 'person' is that not all persons can be held accountable for their actions and bear societal duties. Infants, children, and those found not guilty by reason of insanity cannot be held accountable and cannot bear legal or societal duties. They are, nonetheless, persons with legal rights. Bearing responsibilities is not a prerequisite of personhood.

The personhood of an elephant cannot be conditional on bearing legal duties and responsibilities, because being legally recognized as a person is and must be logically prior to bearing legal duties and responsibilities. At issue in the case of Happy is not whether she can bear legal duties or be held legally accountable for her actions, but whether she is a person and has legal, personal rights. The alternative to being a person is being a thing. The NhRP's petition for a writ of habeas corpus challenges the status of 'thing' currently ascribed to Happy. The Trial Court has agreed that Happy is "more than just a legal thing, or property" (*Breheny* at \*10), just as Judge Fahey found that a chimpanzee is "not merely a thing" (31 NY3d at 1059).

#### 2.4 Conclusions regarding the social contract

While legal duties, legal accountability, and societal responsibilities are acquired by citizens under social contracts, neither the status of citizenship nor personhood depend on the ability to bear those duties and responsibilities. Many humans who are uncontroversially legally recognized as persons and citizens cannot bear those duties and responsibilities and cannot be held legally accountable for their actions. Therefore, whether or not Happy can bear legal duties and responsibilities, or be held legally accountable, is irrelevant to her legal status as a person. Secondly, social contracts do not create the rights associated with personhood. In agreeing to a social contract, we give up our natural rights in exchange for other societal benefits and rights. Finally, social contract philosophers have consistently maintained that social contracts do not make us persons but, rather, create citizens out of existing persons. Personhood, and the requisite possession of autonomy and rationality, is a precondition of being party to a social contract. Indeed, it is hard to imagine how it could be otherwise. The Trial Court agreed that Happy is rational and autonomous, and thus, under a social contract view, she qualifies as a person. As a person, her right to liberty—not the civil or political rights one acquires through a social contract—must be recognized if Happy is to be accorded the respect, dignity, and liberty to which she is entitled.

To be clear, the rights being claimed for Happy are not political, citizenship, or civil rights, such as the right to vote or own property. They are personal rights. Persons enjoy personal rights even when these other rights are denied or withheld from them. It is the right to liberty that is claimed for Happy. If Happy is not a thing, or property, then we are forced to conclude that she is a person with the rights of persons, including a right to liberty.

#### 3. Community Membership

#### 3.1 A community membership conception of personhood

Noting that the Trial Court is constrained by case law and legal precedent, Justice Tuitt found that Happy is not a "person" (*Breheny* at \*10). In so deciding, Justice Tuitt referenced *Lavery II*, which concerned the legal status of the captive chimpanzees Kiko and Tommy. In *Lavery II*, the First Department determined that humans who lack the ability to acknowledge legal duties and responsibilities, such as infants and comatose individuals, are still persons because such individuals are members of "the human community," but since Kiko and Tommy are not members of the human community, they cannot be persons (152 AD3d at 78).

One interpretation of 'human community' puts the exclusive emphasis on 'human,' understood as a biological category, so that 'human community' is a synonym for 'members of the species *Homo sapiens*.' This interpretation amounts to the species membership view dismissed in Section 1.

A second interpretation puts the emphasis on 'community,' referring to membership in a community of which humans are members. On this view, personhood is not just grounded in discrete traits or capacities of individuals. Rather, personhood is something that we achieve through development and recognition within a community of individuals. This idea is captured in the Ubuntu philosophy of personhood stated as "I am because we are," in which personhood arises from participating in the social life of a community of persons, or, as stated in a traditional Zulu saying, "a person is a person through other people" (Eze 94 [2010]).

There are different ways of interpreting the idea of membership in a community of persons. We discuss two such views below—which we call Wide and Narrow—and show that on both of them, Happy should be seen as a member of a community of persons.

#### 3.2 The Wide view

According to the Wide view, someone is a member of a community of persons because they are embedded in interpersonal webs of interdependency, trust, communication, and normative responsiveness (i.e., behavior that is informed by various norms). Persons do not exist as independent islands, floating free of each other.

On this view, children and individuals with cognitive disabilities are clearly persons even if they cannot enter into contracts or bear certain legal responsibilities. The fact that they have guardians for certain legal purposes, far from disqualifying them from personhood, confirms that they are members of these webs of social connection. We all are dependent on others at some points in our lives, and interdependent at all times. Infants depend on their parents and caretakers to feed them, teach them a language, and help them to see the world from others' perspectives. Adolescents and some individuals with cognitive disabilities may not have all of the capacities of mature, developmentally typical adults, and may not have all of the moral duties and citizenship responsibilities that come with them, but they are embedded in the web of interpersonal relationships on which personhood rests.

The Wide view recognizes the psychological reality that our individual capacities and identities are formed in social interaction (and, by implication, it

recognizes the profound harm caused by unlawful detention and denial of society). It also avoids the exclusionary tendencies of conceptions of personhood that require high thresholds of individual capacity. The Wide view has been endorsed in particular by philosophers of disability, who emphasize that individuals with cognitive disabilities, like everyone else, are persons because of their embeddedness in social relations (Kittay [2005]; Francis & Silvers [2016]; Arneil & Hirschman [2016]). Personhood rights help to ensure that individuals are able to form and maintain appropriate social bonds, while protecting them from the arbitrary power of others to detain, confine, neglect, or isolate them.

Happy is embedded in interpersonal webs of dependency, meaning, and care with other human persons, and so is part of a human community. When she was captured as an infant, humans denied Happy her membership in an elephant community. She has lived at the Bronx Zoo for four decades, and is a member of a human community and embedded in social relationships with humans, and so she, too, should be protected when others exercise arbitrary power over her. Happy remains a member of a community with humans because, however inadequate her care, she is dependent on her keepers for food, water and shelter, and, as evidenced by the NhRP lawsuit and this brief, there are humans who recognize her as part of the community. The fact that Happy is simultaneously the subject of instrumentalization and the subject of legal advocacy shows that her membership is disputed. But this has also been true for many humans seeking habeas corpus relief. Indeed, one of the functions of habeas corpus is to protect members of the community who are being treated as things.

In short, the Wide view accepts the link between personhood and community, but denies that community membership is exclusive to human beings, not least because we have in fact brought nonhuman individuals, such as Happy, into our community. Membership in a human community is available to any individual who is embedded in the relevant relationships of interdependency and who would suffer if excluded from those relationships.

#### 3.3 The Narrow view

One could adopt a less inclusive conception of community. On the Narrow conception, 'personhood-as-community-membership' requires persons to have traits that are more than sentience or vulnerability to harm, but less than the capacity to bear legal responsibilities. These traits may be biological or psychological.

Biological traits can include such properties or characteristics as having fortysix chromosomes or having human parents. This would be a return to the view that only members of the species *Homo sapiens* qualify for personhood, and, as argued in Section 1, restriction of personhood on the basis of species is arbitrary and unsupported by the biological sciences. Psychological traits are mental capacities: having beliefs and desires, for example, or emotions, autonomy, and rationality. In her decision Justice Tuitt "recognizes that Happy is an extraordinary animal with complex cognitive abilities, an intelligent being with advanced analytic abilities akin to human beings" (*Breheny* at \*10). Given Happy's psychological traits, on the Narrow view Happy is a person. While Happy is not a member of the species *Homo sapiens*, she is clearly relevantly similar to humans in the kind of psychological being she is and should be acknowledged as a member of the community of persons.

#### 3.4 Conclusions regarding community membership

The idea that personhood has a social dimension, and is importantly linked to membership in the human community, is familiar and plausible. However, we cannot simply assume that it excludes Happy.

If one accepts either the Wide or Narrow view of human community, Happy is a person. On the Wide view, to be a person is to be embedded in social relationships of interdependency, meaning, and community. Happy clearly meets this criterion: we have made Happy part of our human community of persons by embedding her within relations of care and intersubjective response, and rendering her vulnerable to forms of exclusion from this community. On the Narrow view, to be a person requires not just social embedding, but also the possession of certain basic, and familiar psychological capacities, such as beliefs, desires, emotions, rationality, and autonomy. The Trial Court agreed that Happy has these capacities (*see Breheny* at 10\*).

On either view, Happy is a member of our community, and so is owed protection from the arbitrary power of others to define her social conditions.

#### 4. Capacities

In *Breheny*, the Trial Court did not dispute the elephant experts' claims about the cognitive, affective, or behavioral capacities of elephants, whether free-living or captive, and found that Happy is "an intelligent, autonomous being" (Breheny at \*10). The Trial Court acknowledged, however, that it is bound by the Third Department's holding that "animals are not 'persons'" (Id., citing Lavery I and II concerning the legal status of captive chimpanzees, Kiko and Tommy). Notwithstanding these previous rulings, it remains a fundamental claim made by the NhRP that the capacity for autonomy is sufficient for personhood. We provide a brief, logically consistent analysis that ensures that all those human beings commonly regarded as persons remain so, but does not introduce ad hoc exclusions of other beings who also meet the criteria. If elephants possess the same relevant capacities that qualify humans as persons, then the reasonable conclusion should be that elephants are also persons.

#### 4.1 Conditions of personhood

The philosopher John Locke described what it is to be a person: "a thinking intelligent being that has reason and reflection and can consider itself as itself, the same thinking thing in different times and places; which it does only by that consciousness which is inseparable from thinking and . . . essential to it" (Locke 280 [1689]). Contemporary philosophical discussions of personhood tend to provide a more explicit breakdown of core capacities. Of those commonly listed, we find reference to autonomy (minimally, to act voluntarily or to control our behavior in light of our preferences or goals), emotions, linguistic mastery, sentience (the capacity for conscious awareness, sensation, pleasure, and pain), rationality, reflective self-awareness (that is, being aware of ourselves as 'selves'), and reciprocity (*e.g.* Andrews [2016]; DeGrazia 320 [2007]; Dennett 177-178 [1988]; Rowlands 10-16 [2019]).

There is no disputing the personhood of individuals who possess all of these capacities. However, to maintain that persons must possess *all* of these capacities inevitably excludes some humans who lack one or more of them. Furthermore, most of these capacities develop gradually in humans, so possession of them is not a clear-cut matter. Instead, to be a person one must have multiple personhood-making capacities, although which ones cannot be non-arbitrarily specified. Conceiving personhood in this way means that there is no defensible minimum threshold of

capacities that can definitively draw a line separating persons from near-persons or non-persons (DeGrazia [2007]).

As noted earlier, the Trial Court ruling acknowledges the affidavits submitted by a number of respected elephant experts in support of the view that elephants share many relevantly similar characteristics with humans regarded as persons. Examples include self-awareness, with evidence from a mirror self-recognition study (*e.g.* Bates and Byrne Affidavits, Petitioner-Appellant's Appendix, A-108-109). Importantly, of the three elephants involved in that study, Happy was the research subject in the experiment who demonstrated mirror self-recognition (Plotnik et al. [2006]).

Evidence that elephants may have strong emotional bonds is found in their empathetic responses to others who are struggling or in distress. Such responses demonstrate expectations of normal elephant behavior, a recognition of another's needs, and an understanding of what to do to meet those needs. The elephant experts also agree that Asian elephants can engage in means-end reasoning to solve problems and cooperate to achieve a beneficial goal (evidence of both a level of rationality and intentional planning). These observations point to the presence of goals, desires to satisfy goals, and preferences. That Asian elephants can control their behavior is demonstrated by a cooperative experiment referenced in the elephant experts' affidavits (*see also* Plotnik et al. at 5116-5120). Such experimental results suggest a capacity for self-control and voluntary behavior. Given the evidence that elephants are autonomous, emotional, self-aware, sentient beings who have beliefs and desires, elephants fulfill the requirements for personhood on a capacities conception.

#### 4.2 Personhood and autonomy

The NhRP's case is based on one particular capacity—autonomy—and this is for good reason. For one, it is a capacity that philosophers have historically associated with personhood. A traditional conception of personhood is framed in terms of autonomy where that capacity requires a great deal of cognitive sophistication. For example, it requires the ability to abstractly consider principles of action and judge them according to prudential values or rationality (*see* Johnson & Cureton [2017]). This traditional conception has been criticized given that few humans engage in abstract reflection before every action, and yet we are still acting autonomously (as opposed to acting under the influence of a mind-altering substance or because of a compulsion). On the traditional view, humans rarely act autonomously, and young children and some humans with cognitive disabilities fail to be autonomous actors, despite appearances to the contrary.

To address this kind of worry, the well-known bioethicist and philosopher Tom Beauchamp, together with the comparative psychologist Victoria Wobber, have suggested that an act is autonomous if an "[individual self-initiates an] action

that is (1) intentional, (2) adequately informed . . . and (3) free of controlling influences" (Beauchamp & Wobber 119 [2014]). As the lower court has affirmed by accepting the affidavits provided by elephant experts, elephants such as Happy can act intentionally (they can respond intelligently to problems and act to achieve goals). The elephant experts also note that elephants are born with "35% of their adult [brain] weight" (e.g. Moss Affidavit, Petitioner-Appellant's Appendix, A-224.). Coupled with a "[d]elayed development" (id.), this shows the importance of learning to elephants' flourishing in adulthood. They, like the chimpanzees on which Beauchamp and Wobber focus, must learn how to navigate complex physical and social worlds. Whether an elephant's action is free of controlling influences will depend on their environment and the options available to them, but there is no doubt that elephants can act freely when they find themselves in contexts without autonomy-depriving controlling influences.

A second reason to focus on autonomy is that it is a cluster concept. As highlighted by Beauchamp and Wobber, it brings together capacities to act intentionally (which assumes capacities to form goals and direct one's behavior) and to be adequately informed (which assumes capacities to learn, to make inferences, and acquire knowledge through rational processes), each of which requires sentience. This means that an autonomous capacity requires other personhood capacities, namely sentience and rationality. So understood, evidence of autonomy is sufficient evidence of personhood. Thus, elephants qualify as persons on autonomy grounds alone.

#### 4.3 Why elephant autonomy matters

A final reason for the NhRP's focus on autonomy is the concept's direct connection to ethics. Violating someone's autonomy is widely regarded as a harm. After all, autonomous individuals have a basic interest in exercising their autonomy, and to violate it is to violate a basic interest (Beauchamp & Childress [2001]). This brings us to another point of contention in the cases involving the chimpanzees Kiko and Tommy, as noted by Justice Tuitt. In Lavery II, relying on Matter of Nonhuman Rights Project, Inc. v Presti (124 AD3d 1334 [4th Dept 2015]), the First Department ruled that habeas corpus relief was unavailable to Kiko or Tommy because the NhRP was not seeking their release from captivity but, rather, their relocation to a suitable sanctuary (152 AD3d at 79). Justice Tuitt seems to disagree with this way of thinking about the options on the table with regards to Happy. She used terms like "solitary, lonely one-acre exhibit" to describe Happy's current housing in contrast to "an elephant sanctuary on a 2300 acre lot" (Breheny at \*10). This points to contrasts in both social opportunities and space for movement and exploration.

Our discussion of autonomy provides a way to distinguish Happy's current captive conditions from those afforded her in a sanctuary. As noted by Justice Tuitt, Happy is currently housed alone in a relatively small space. An option is to have her moved to an appropriate elephant sanctuary. Should Happy be relocated to such a sanctuary, several things change: she will no longer be housed alone, she will have liberty to roam, explore, and forage, she will have the opportunity to develop and exercise typical elephant social capacities, all the while expanding her goals and preferences to reflect the greater opportunities afforded her. In Happy's current conditions of captivity, her interests in acting autonomously are violated. An appropriate sanctuary promises not only much greater liberty, but a setting where her autonomous capacities can be better respected (*see* Stewart Affidavit, Petitioner-Appellant's Appendix, A-248-250).

#### 4.4 Conclusions regarding capacities

The NhRP argues that elephants are persons under a capacities approach to the concept of 'personhood.' This reflects their view that this concept of 'personhood' is already enshrined in law and that, as it stands, it applies to elephants just as it does to humans. Affidavits by a number of eminent elephant experts have attested to the fact that elephants possess the relevant capacities to qualify as persons, and the lower court has not disputed these claims. Importantly, a capacities account of personhood makes no reference to species identity. It is no coincidence that contemporary philosophers writing about personhood using a capacities conception are open to the existence of nonhuman persons (Andrews [2016]; Rowlands [2019]). If elephants possess the relevant person-making capacities, whatever they might be, then logical consistency requires that they too qualify as persons. There is one inescapable conclusion: on a capacities conception of personhood, Happy qualifies as a person.

#### **IV.** Conclusion

In rejecting habeas relief for Happy, an elephant, the Trial Court referenced previous decisions concerning a different nonhuman species, chimpanzees. As we have argued, of the four conceptions of personhood contained in those previous decisions, species membership is arbitrary and must be rejected, while the other three entail that Happy is a person. This Court should recognize that when criteria for personhood are reasonable and consistently applied, Happy satisfies them and is entitled to habeas corpus relief.

Dated: September 24, 2021

Respectfully submitted,

ana M. Monigh

Ana L. McMonigle, Esq. 28 High Street, Apt. 506 Hartford, CT 06103 (860) 690-1182 ana.mcmonigle@gmail.com

Attorney for Amici Curiae Gary L. Comstock, Ph.D.; Sue Donaldson, Independent Researcher; Andrew Fenton, Ph.D.; Tyler M. John, Ph.D. candidate; L. Syd M Johnson, Ph.D.; Robert C. Jones,

Ph.D.; Will Kymlicka, Ph.D.; Letitia M. Meynell, Ph.D.; Nathan Nobis, Ph.D.; David M. Peña-Guzmán, Ph.D.; James Rocha, Ph.D.; Bernard E. Rollin, Ph.D.; Jeff Sebo, Ph.D.; and Adam Shriver, Ph.D.

#### NEW YORK STATE COURT OF APPEALS CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE

Pursuant to the Rules of the Court of Appeals (22 NYCRR) §§ 500.1 (j),

500.13 (c) (1) and (3), and 500.23 (a) (1) (i), I hereby certify that:

Word-Processing System. The foregoing brief was prepared on a computer

using Microsoft Word.

*Type.* A proportionally spaced typeface was used as follows:

Typeface:	Times New Roman
Point size:	14
Line spacing:	Double

*Word Count.* The total number of words in this brief, inclusive of point headings and footnotes and exclusive of pages containing the table of contents, table of citations, proof of service, certificate of compliance, corporate disclosure statement, questions presented, statement of related cases, or any authorized addendum containing statutes, rules, and regulations, etc., is 6,968.

Dated: September 24, 2021

Respectfully submitted,

anaz monial

Ana L. McMonigle, Esq! 28 High Street, Apt. 506 Hartford, CT 06103 (860) 690-1182 ana.mcmonigle@gmail.com *Attorney for Amici Curiae*